FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/27/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No \$1195-9-J

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/26/2024 3:17 PM

COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

Case #: 1036531

MARIANNE MEEKER, an individual,

Appellant,

VS.

TRUMBULL INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer and a member of the Hartford Fire and Casualty Group of Companies

Respondent,

JAMES HEORR and LEONA ORR, individually and the marital community composed thereof; LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY AND/OR LIBERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION, foreign insurers and members of the Liberty Mutual group of companies;

Defendants

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Marianne Meeker, Plaintiff and Appellant, asks this court to accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals,

Division One, designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appellant seeks review of Division One's unpublished opinion filed October 28, 2024, affirming summary judgment in favor of defendant/respondent Trumbull Insurance Company.

The court's opinion is attached at Appendix A, and the underlying judgment as Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. When Meeker asked the trial court to determine that her settlement with the Orrs was reasonable, she gave the court reasons why it should grant her motion. The reasons included telling the court that \$150,000.00 of the amount compensated her for "general damages in emotional pain and suffering, as well as the pain and suffering associated with her bodily injury." Meeker served Trumbull with her pleadings and invited it to participate in the hearing. It declined. The court approved the settlement as Meeker proposed, and in doing so specifically found "that the type of damages alleged by plaintiff is potentially substantial and would be persuasive to a jury, creating a risk of a significant damage award against defendants." Judgment was entered accordingly. An issue this

case presents is whether the trial court's ruling in the reasonableness hearing precluded Trumbull from later disputing that Meeker's claims against the Orrs included a claim for bodily injury. On Trumbull's motion for summary judgment Meeker argued it did. The trial court agreed with Trumbull and decided it did not. The Court of Appeals did not address the issue.

- 2. Whether Meeker's complaint and amended complaint alleged bodily injury or property damage caused by an occurrence as required by Trumbull's policy.
- 3. Whether Trumbull's actions, including its failure to defend the Orrs, estopped it from denying coverage and obligated them to pay the consent judgment.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in dismissing the Orrs' assigned claims against Trumbull for breach of contact, negligence, bad faith, violation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act, and violation of Washington's Insurance Fair Conduct Act.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is Plaintiff Meeker's action for Trumbull Insurance Company's breach of its duty to defend James and Leona Orr under a liability policy. The trial court dismissed Meeker's claims on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals affirmed that decision.

Statement of Facts

In 2011, James Orr gave Marianne Meeker a retired racehorse. Over the next five years, Meeker emotionally bonded with the horse, paid for its care, and repaired damage it caused. She also testified that she was thrown from the horse three times, all resulting in injury; thrown to the stable floor when the horse was spooked injuring her knee; suffered a hernia when he violently jerked after being scared by a yellow jacket nest while she was riding him; pushed against a fence, and stepped on. (CP 845-47)

In 2016, Orr abruptly took the horse back and kept it from her. By that time Meeker had bonded with the horse so strongly that she suffered what her therapist diagnosed as a trauma response when he was taken from her. Symptoms included a panic attack that resulted in elevated heart rate and blood pressure so severe that paramedics were called. (CP 847-48)

In March, 2016 (amended November, 2016), Meeker

sued Orr claiming alternatively (1) that she either owned the horse and it should be returned to her with damages for the wrongful taking, including her emotional distress, or, (2) if she didn't own the horse, for damages caused by Mr. Orr's inducing her to care for it for five years by representing that he was giving it to her. (CP 2-8, 9-17) Meeker would not have taken the horse, expended the time, money and effort to care for it, or incurred the risk of it without owning it. (CP 2 at lns. 19-21, 847)

Consistent with Washington's notice pleading rules,

Meeker's complaint identified some specific items for which
she sought compensation, but also alleged ongoing injury and
prayed for general and special damages. (See generally CP 1-8,
9-17) Meeker would later testify and provide evidence that she
sought damages for the loss of the horse, for the expenses she
incurred caring for the horse, for physical damage caused by the
horse, for physical injury she suffered while caring for it, and
for her emotional distress which included medical treatment for

the physical manifestations of her distress. (CP 471-73, 845-48)

The Orrs tendered Meeker's lawsuit to the three insurers who insured them during the five year period. Farmers provided a defense and ultimately contributed towards a settlement. (CP 431) Liberty Mutual never responded.

Trumbull denied that it had to do anything for the Orrs. (CP 455-56, 460) Without investigating the nature or extent of Meeker's claims, Trumbull simply claimed Meeker's complaint did not allege bodily injury or property damage as required by its policy. (CP 460)

After the trial court refused to dismiss Meeker's claim on summary judgment, she and the Orrs settled. The Orrs agreed to a consent judgment against them for \$334,000.00 and assigned their claims against Trumbull and Liberty Mutual to Meeker. (CP 462-69)

Pursuant to *Besel v. Viking Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 730, 49 P.3d 887 (2002), Meeker presented the settlement to the trial court to determine whether it was reasonable. (CP 18-27)

Meeker represented that, of the \$334,000.00 settlement, \$150,000.00 compensated her for "general damages in emotional pain and suffering, as well as the pain and suffering associated with her bodily injury," and that she incurred over \$100,000.00 in damages for feed, board and other items to care for the horse. (CP 21-22, 41-43)

Meeker notified Liberty and Trumbull of the reasonableness motion, served them with the pleadings filed in support of it, and invited them to participate. (CP 92-93, 95-114) Neither did. (CP 115-19)

The trial court affirmed the settlement as reasonable. (CP 120-23) In doing so, the judge specifically found "that the type of damages alleged by plaintiff is potentially substantial and would be persuasive to a jury, creating a risk of a significant damage award against defendants." (CP 121) Judgment was entered accordingly. (CP 134-39) No one appealed.

Procedural History

On November 28, 2018, Meeker sued Trumbull and

Liberty Mutual pursuant to the assignment of claims she received from the Orrs. (CP 142-50) The complaint asserted claims under their respective insurance policies and Washington law for declaratory judgment, breach of contract, bad faith, estoppel, and violation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act. *Id*.

On July 26, 2019, the trial court heard argument on the insurers and Meeker's cross-motions for summary judgment. The court granted the insurers' motions and denied Meeker's motions against the insurers. (CP 828-33) As to Trumbull, the court decided that Meeker had not alleged bodily injury or property damage, so the complaint did not trigger its defense obligation. (RP 58-59)

Meeker appealed, asserting the following assignments of error:

- 1. The trial court erred in granting the insurer's motions for summary judgment, and denying reconsideration of summary judgment for Trumbull.
- 2. The trial court erred in denying Meeker's motion for

summary judgment against the insurers.

- 3. The trial court erred in determining that Meeker's complaint and amended complaint did not trigger the insurers' duty to defend;
- 4. The trial court erred in dismissing the Orrs' assigned claims against the insurers for breach of contact, negligence, bad faith, violation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act, and violation of Washington's Insurance Fair Conduct Act.¹

Brief of Appellant at 11-12. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion.²

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Petitioner contends the Supreme Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

^{1.} In its decision, the Court of Appeals states that Meeker did not assign error to the trial court's dismissal of Meeker's claims for violation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act and violation of Washington's Insurance Fair Conduct Act. Opinion at 6, fn. 4. That statement is incorrect. See Brief of Appellant at 13, Assignment of Error 5.

^{2.} Liberty Mutual was a party to this action but has since settled with Meeker. As a result, further discussion of its arguments is not pertinent, and therefore is omitted.

1. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of this Court in *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins, Co. v. T&G Constr., Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 255, 259, 199 P.3d 376 (2008), and *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp.*, 75 Wn.2d 756, 287 P.3d 551 (2013). In *Mutual of Enumclaw,* this Court held that the insurer could not relitigate a statute of limitations defense because it had been substantially resolved in a reasonableness hearing. *Id.* at 259. In *Bird*, this Court held that an insurer could not relitigate the application of treble damages because it was properly considered during a reasonableness hearing. 75 Wn.2d at 775
("An evaluation of Bird's claims under RCW 4.24.630 was a necessary part of the trial court's determination.")

Trial courts must consider nine factors when determining whether a settlement is reasonable. The releasing party's damages and the merits of the releasing party's liability theory are two of them. *Mut. of Enumclaw*, 165 Wn.2d at 264. Here,

without objection from Trumbull, Meeker presented evidence in the reasonableness hearing on those two factors to the effect that a substantial portion of her claim was for bodily injury. Based on that evidence, and without objection from Trumbull, the trial court determined those elements, stating "that the type of damages alleged by plaintiff is potentially substantial and would be persuasive to a jury, creating a risk of a significant damage award against defendants." (CP 121) Under *Mut. of Enumclaw* and *Bird*, that determination should have barred Trumbull from disputing that Meeker had pled bodily injury in her lawsuit or received compensation for it.³ The Court of Appeals did not address this issue.

^{3.} Compare State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Justus, 199 Wn.App. 435, 398 P.3d 1258 (2017). There, State Farm intervened in a reasonableness hearing and argued that the court had insufficient basis for determining whether the defendant insured acted negligently or intentionally. As a result, in approving the reasonableness of the covenant judgment settlement, the settlement court recognized that State Farm had filed a separate declaratory action and stated that it "will not make findings as to whether or not or the degree to which Defendant [William]'s actions on June 9th, 2010, were intentional versus negligent...." Because the settlement court made clear it was not determining whether the defendant's actions were negligent or intentional, the Appellate Court refused to estop State Farm or the declaratory judgment court from determining that issue.

The decision of the Court of Appeals also conflicts with this Court's decisions in State v. Adams, 107 Wn. 2d 611, 732 P.2d 149 (1987), Edmonson v. Popchoi, 172 Wn.2d 272, 256 P.3d 1223 (2011), Expedia, Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co., 180 Wn. 2d 793, 329 P. 3d 59 (2014), and Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty, 188 Wn.2d 171, 393 P.3d 748 (2017). In Adams, this Court recognized that Washington's notice pleading rules require only a short, plain statement of the claim and that complaints are liberally construed. 107 Wn.2d at 620. In Expedia, the Court held that the duty to defend is triggered if the insurance policy conceivably covers allegations in the complaint and the complaint is to be liberally construed. 180 Wn. 2d at 802. In Edmonson, this Court stated: "[I]f there is any reasonable interpretation of the facts or the law that could result in coverage, the insurer must defend." 172 Wn.2d at 282. In Xia, this Court stated: "Thus, an insurer takes a great risk when it refuses to defend on the basis that there is no reasonable interpretation of the facts or the law that could result in coverage." 188 Wn.2d at 182. The effect of these rules is to prevent insurers from using notice pleading as a tool to deny their duty to defend, such that the duty is based on the true nature of the claim, not some magic words inserted into a complaint.

Here, in her complaint Meeker alleged that Mr. Orr negligently induced her to care for a 2000 pound animal for five years, that his actions were a proximate cause of damage to her, and for which she sought general and special damages. Within the context of her entire complaint, it is not only conceivable that her damage could have been personal – i.e., being thrown, kicked, hit, bitten, stomped, etc. – or included damage to property – i.e., damaged real estate, barn, stall, fence, trailer, or consumed goods like feed - but likely. And, under Washington law, tort damages, including physical injury and property damage which would have satisfied Trumbull's requirements for bodily injury and property damage, were permissible based on her claims. See *Bloor v. Fritz*, 143 Wn.

App. 718, 180 P.3d 805 (2008) (Allowing purchaser to recover for loss wages, damage to tools and emotional distress from seller's failure to disclose that house had been used as a meth lab); accord Andersen v. Lewis McChord Communities LLC, No. 3:21-cv-05391 at 13 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 24, 2022) ("[A] plaintiff in Washington may recover for emotional distress damages under a claim of negligent misrepresentation."); Ward v. Bank of Am., No 2:19-cv-00185, at 11 (W.D. Wash. May 14, 2019)("Ward has plausibly alleged a causal connection between BANA's misrepresentation and his emotional distress."). Nevertheless, despite the fact that Meeker actually would have sought to recover for those types of damages had her suit gone to trial, the Court of Appeals decided that Meeker's complaint was not specific enough to assert covered bodily injury or property damage. Opinion at 13-14 ("Lacking specificity as to the injury in question, these are examples of general damages" not logically implied by her claims.) In reaching that conclusion the court acted contrary to the authorities cited

above.

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with this Court's decision in *Expedia, Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn.2d 793, 802, 329 P.3d 59 (2014). In that case this Court held that "if coverage is not clear from the face of the complaint but coverage could exist, the insurer must investigate and give the insured the benefit of the doubt on the duty to defend." *Expedia*, 180 Wn.2d at 803.

Here, at worst, Meeker's allegations of injury and her prayer for general and special damages required Trumbull to investigate the nature and extent of her claim. It did nothing. Had it investigated, it would have learned, at a minimum, that Meeker was claiming many physical injuries as well as physical manifestations of emotional distress which would have satisfied Trumbull's bodily injury requirement. (See CP 846-48) The Court of Appeals neither addressed that duty nor what fulfilling it would have revealed.

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with this

Court's decision in Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co, 161 Wn.2d 43, 164 P.3d 454 (2007). In Woo, this Court held that insurers may not rely on equivocal interpretations of undetermined law as a basis for denying the duty to defend. 161 Wn.2d at ¶¶ 31-35.

Here the Court of Appeals reasoned that Meeker could not recover for physical injury or property damage because her claim based on negligent misrepresentation that caused ongoing injury and her prayer for general damages was based on a "business transaction" and Washington courts had not allowed physical harm as a basis for recovery on a claim for negligent misrepresentation. Opinion at 14. However, the record does not support the conclusion that Meeker's claim arose from a "business transaction," and whether negligent misrepresentation may give rise to damages for physical harm is, at worst, an open question. See *Bloor v. Fritz, supra*. By justifying its **d**ecision on this equivocal interpretation of the law, the court validated Trumbull's having done so, contrary to Woo.

Moreover, the court's justification actually begged the issue. The question was not "whether Meeker could recover those damages" but "whether she conceivably sought to recover those damages." As the Woo Court noted, the duty to defend is based on what the plaintiff alleges. 161 Wn. 2d at ¶33. Indeed, insurers, including Trumbull, specifically address unfounded allegations in their policies. (CP 322: "[W]e will: . . . 2. Provide a defense at our expense by counsel of our choice, even if the suit is groundless, false or fraudulent. . . . ") That, of course, is at it should be. If it were otherwise, insurers could deny their defense obligation in lawsuits seeking to extend the law through novel interpretations which, if successful, ultimately give rise to covered damages.

The Court's analysis on this point misses another important fact: The scope of Meeker's recovery was already decided. In the reasonableness hearing, the trial court approved the settlement precisely because of Meeker's physical damages. Trumbull failed even to show up and argue to that it should not.

So, regardless of the state of the law, the facts of this case are that Meeker did claim general "physical harm" damages and actually recovered for them. Thus, as in *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp.*, supra, 75 Wn. 2d 756, 287 P.3d 551 (2013), where the insurer tried to dispute the legal basis for the plaintiff's recovery of treble damages, Meeker's right to recover for physical damage was a moot point by the time the Court of Appeals decided this case.

With regard to the emotional distress aspect of Meeker's claims specifically, the Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with *Trinh v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 109 Wn. App. 927, 37 P.3d 1259 (2002). In *Trinh*, the court ruled that emotional distress that manifests itself in physical symptoms meets policy definitions of bodily injury. Here Meeker alleged she suffered emotional distress, mental pain and suffering, and loss of consortium. (CP 4-6, 13-14) During discovery, she contended that her emotional injuries required treatment with medications by a licensed physician and produced her medical records to the defense.

(CP 472-73) In testimony, she related physical manifestations of that distress that included elevated heart rate and blood pressure, and treatment by paramedics. (CP 847-88) Even though Trumbull had no basis for interpreting her complaint as excluding covered emotional distress, the Court of Appeals affirmed that interpretation. In doing so, it wrongly imposed pleading requirements beyond notice pleading, made insureds rather than insurers bear the burden of notice pleading, and narrowly construed Meeker's complaint instead of broadly and liberally construing it.

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Seattle Tunnel Partners v. Great Lakes Reinsurance (UK) PLC, Co.*, 200 Wn.2d 316, 516 P.3d 796 (2022). There, this court recognized that insurance policies should be construed to give the language "a fair, reasonable, and sensible construction as would be given to the contract by the average person purchasing insurance." Id. at ¶8 The Court also stated: "[D]irect physical loss [or] ... damage' includes

the deprivation or dispossession of or injury to the insured property." Id. at ¶48.

Here, Trumbull's policy defined "property damage" to mean "physical injury to, destruction of, or loss of use of tangible property." (CP 305) A reasonable interpretation of these terms means "physical damage, total destruction, or total deprivation" of property. Here, Meeker alleged that Orr had deprived her of the horse, regardless of whether he physically damaged it. Under *Seattle Tunnel Partners*, that allegation should have been enough to satisfy the property damage element of Trumbull's policy.⁴

2. This case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

^{4.} Ironically, the Court of Appeals' decision on this issue contradicts Trumbull's own interpretation of it insurance policy. After initially denying a duty to defend because deprivation of the horse was not property damage, Trumbull reversed its decision saying:

Upon further review of this matter, it appears possible there may be claims for "property damage" as the plaintiff is claiming loss of use of the horse, which is tangible property (CP 459)

This case also raises an issue of substantial public interest. That issue is whether or when a claim of emotional distress in a personal injury lawsuit constitutes bodily injury under liability policies sufficient to trigger the insurer's duty to defend. Trumbull and the Court of Appeals relied on this Court's decision in E-Z Loader Boat Trailers, Inv. v. Travelers *Indem. Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 901, 726 P.2d 439 (1987), for the proposition that a claim of emotional distress is never sufficient to trigger bodily injury coverage. But such a broad application of E-Z Loader is inappropriate for at least two reasons. First, unlike here, E-Z Loader did not arise in a context where physical injuries or physical manifestations of emotional distress were implicit within the claims. The case involved an insurer's duty to defend allegations of emotional distress resulting from class-based employment discrimination. Here, Meeker's claims were individual tort claims that reasonably gave rise to a broader scope of emotional distress injury (the loss of a beloved animal) to which the E-Z Loader decision

should have no application. Second, at the time of E-Z Loader, the law had not developed to the point of examining the realities of emotional distress injury. Since then, cases like *Trinh* have examined emotional distress injury more thoroughly and recognized that emotional distress can manifest itself through physical symptoms that are bodily injury as that term is used in insurance policies. By applying E-Z Loader as a per se rule precluding emotional distress claims from ever triggering the duty to defend, or by requiring plaintiffs to include some magic words in their complaint in order for a defendant's insurer to be obligated to defend their insured, the Court of Appeals gave insurers a ticket out of meeting their contractual obligations even when, as here, a plaintiff's emotional distress manifests itself through physical symptoms and treatments. Given the frequency with which emotional distress claims are made and the range of circumstances in which they could arise. it is imperative that this court resolve or clarify whatever conflict, if any, exists between its E-Z Loader decision and the

Court of Appeals decision in *Trinh*, or, at a minimum, identify the specificity with which a claim of emotional distress must be pled in order for it to trigger a duty to defend.

VI. CONCLUSION

Had Meeker's claims against the Orrs gone to trial, she would have sought all the damages the law allowed her to recover. Under her various theories, those would have included damages for the physical injury she suffered after being induced to care for the horse for five years under the guise of ownership, emotional distress resulting from her attaching to the horse then being deprived of it, for the loss of the horse if it was deemed to have been hers, for the cost of care including the food and other supplies the horse consumed, for the damage the horse caused to physical property like the stables where it was kept. Under notice pleading rules, her complaint allowed her to seek all those damages. And, as the trial court's ruling on Meeker's reasonableness motion found, her complaint actually placed Trumbull's insureds, the Orrs, at risk of paying those damages.

The irony here is that despite knowing that her claims sought those damages, having pled sufficiently to recover them, and having acknowledgment from the trial court that reviewed her claims, the Court of Appeals nevertheless decided that Meeker had not pled her claims sufficiently to allege bodily injury or property damage. Meeker respectfully contends that decision was in error.

Meeker asks that this Court grant review, reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment to Trumbull and the Court of Appeals decision upholding it, hold that Trumbull breached its duty to defend and did so in bad faith, hold that Trumbull is estopped to deny coverage and is liable, at a minimum, for the judgment entered against its insureds, award attorney fees for this appeal, and remand to the trial court for trial to determine the full extent of damages and fees sustained as a result of Trumbull's actions.