FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/23/2024 1:47 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1036531

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARIANNE MEEKER, an individual, Appellant,

VS.

TRUMBULL INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer and a member of the Hartford Fire and Casualty Group of Companies,
Respondent,

JAMES H. ORR and LEONA ORR, individually and the marital community composed thereof; LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY AND/OR LIBERTY INSURANCE COMPANY, foreign insurers and members of the Liberty Mutual group of companies; Defendants.

RESPONDENT TRUMBULL'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

A petition for review will be accepted *only* where the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a Supreme Court or published Court of Appeals' decision, or is of substantial interest to the public that it should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4). None of those criteria are met here.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Longstanding Washington Case law

Meeker first contends that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with established law because it did not address the effect of the reasonableness hearing. Meeker is wrong factually and legally.

Factually, she is wrong because the trial court did not find, because it had no evidence upon which it could find, that Meeker suffered "bodily [physical] injury" or "property damage." Nor could it. Meeker presented no evidence that she

suffered a physical injury or property damage. She submitted no deposition testimony to that effect. She submitted no medical records. She submitted no medical or expert testimony. A trial court's findings must be supported by substantial evidence. *Landmark Dev. Co. v. City of Roy*, 138 Wn.2d 561, 573, 980 P.3d 1234 (1998). "Substantial evidence is when there is sufficient evidence to persuade a rational, fairminded person of the truth of the finding." *In re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wn.2d 1, 8, 93 P.3d 147 (2004). The trial court's conclusions of law must, in turn, be supported by valid findings of facts. *Id*.

In Meeker's Motion to Determine Reasonableness, the facts are set forth in the first three pages. [CP 18-20] There is no mention of physical injury. No actual evidence was submitted in support of a claim for "bodily injury" or "property damage." [CP 29-119] Instead, for example, Meeker submitted deposition excerpts of a number of fact witnesses regarding the transfer of Sticks, but no testimony by Meeker

herself about her injuries. [CP 51-75] An expert disclosure was submitted discussing re-homing race horses, but no medical or expert testimony about Meeker's alleged injuries. [CP 81-84]. Meeker submitted a statement of her economic damage in caring for Sticks, but no reference to a "bodily injury." [CP 40-44]

Meeker's claim also fails legally. The cases cited by Meeker, *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. T & G Constr., Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 255, 199 P.3d 376 (2008) and *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp.*, 75 Wn.2d 756, 387 P.3d 551 (2013) apply only to those issues resolved in the reasonableness hearing.

Here, whether Meeker's complaint alleged "bodily injury" or "property damage" were not issues presented to the trial court in reviewing the reasonableness of her settlement with the Orrs.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Washington's Notice Pleading and Duty to Defend Law

The duty to defend applies when a complaint, construed

liberally, alleges facts that, if proven, impose liability on the insured within the policy's coverage. *Nat'l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 872, 879, 297 P.3d 688 (2013). Initially, the duty to defend is to be determined from the eight corners of the complaint and the policy. *Expedia, Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn.2d 793, 803, 329 P.3d 59 (2014).⁶ If the allegations in the complaint clearly fall outside of the policy's coverage, the complaint does not trigger an insurer's duty to defend. *Immunex, supra*, at 879.

Washington courts have long held that where, as here, "bodily injury" is defined to mean "physical injury", "bodily injury" does not include mental or emotional distress. *E-Z Loader Boat Trailers, Inc. v. Travelers Indemnity Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 901, 726 P.2d 439 (1986); *Daley v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 15 Wn.2d 777, 958 P.2d 990 (1998); *Northwest Farm Bureau Ins.*

⁶Two exceptions exist, requiring insurers to look outside the four corners when (1) the complaint is not clear, or (2) the insurer has knowledge that conflicts with the facts of the complaint. *Expedia*, at 803-804. Neither exception applies here.

Co. v. Roberts, 52 Wn. App. 888, 891, 765 P.2d 328 (1988); Grange Ins. Co. v. Roberts, 179 Wn. App. 739, 757, 320 P.3d 77 (2013). The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with these longstanding decisions.

Meeker's Complaint alleged no facts supporting the existence of a physical injury. Meeker contends that she suffered a myriad of physical injuries while riding Sticks. However, she did not sue for those injuries. This is confirmed by her deposition testimony, in which she testified that she did not believe her complaint sought damages for "bodily injury." [CP 471] In other words, she did not seek damages because of "bodily injury" as required by the policy. Atlantic Mutual Ins. Co. v. Roffe, 73 Wn. App. 858, 862, 872 P.2d 536 (1994) ("Under the policy, the mere fact that injury occurred does not create a duty to defend. The plaintiff's injury must be "because of" the bodily injury.") For example, Meeker does not allege that she was physically injured because the Orrs failed to warn her of about some dangerous propensity of the horse, or that the

horse was unreasonably dangerous.

Meeker further misunderstands the interaction between the notice pleading rules and the duty to defend standard. Under *Expedia*, the duty to defend applies when the facts as actually alleged are conceivably covered. *Expedia*, at 802. However, Meeker turns this on its head, asserting instead that the duty to defend applies if facts that conceivably could have been pled would be covered. Meeker cites to no authority that would require Trumbull to defend based upon facts her complaint conceivably *could* have alleged but conclusively did not.

Meeker further suggests that the Court of Appeals' opinion was inconsistent with Supreme Court opinions, when determining that emotional distress is not recoverable under a claim for negligent misrepresentation arising out of a business transaction. The Court of Appeals fully explained its conclusion as consistent with Washington law. Opinion at 14, n.6.

More importantly, however, the argument is moot. First, Meeker's negligent misrepresentation claim does not allege that she suffered emotional distress as a result of the negligent misrepresentation. Moreover, the negligent misrepresentation claim deals with the Orrs' alleged misrepresentations to convince Meeker to take the horse in the first instance. There is no allegation in the Amended Complaint that Meeker suffered emotional distress as a result of the Orrs' alleged negligent misrepresentations. Rather, her emotional distress claim allegedly arises out of the Orrs subsequently taking the horse.

Meeker claims that the Court of Appeals decision is contrary to *Trinh v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 109 Wn. App. 927, 37 P.3d 1259 (2002). *Trinh*, an uninsured motorist case, not a duty to defend case, held that bodily injury could include emotional distress accompanied by physical manifestations. However, this is irrelevant. Neither cause of action in Meeker's initial Complaint that she alleged caused emotional distress could have given rise to a claim for emotional distress. The nature of

replevin is not to recover damages in tort. *Selland v. Douglas County*, 4 Wn. App. 387, 389, 481 P.2d 573 (1971). Emotional distress is not recoverable from breach of contract, except in exceptional circumstances not present here. *Repin v. State*, 198 Wn. App. 243, 256-57, 392 P.3d 1174 (2017).⁷

Meeker did not testify in her deposition in the underlying tort action that she suffered physical manifestations. In fact, she testified her complaint sought no such injuries. In response to Trumbull's and Liberty's motion for summary judgment, she raised no such allegation. Indeed, she presented no such argument to the Court of Appeals. The only thing Meeker now points to is a self-serving declaration, filed after, and in reconsideration of, the summary judgment orders granted to Trumbull by the trial court. Even in that declaration, however,

⁷Indeed, it is questionable whether Meeker could have recovered emotional distress damages at all in this case, given that Washington courts have rejected emotional distress damages related to an animal, except in the instance of intentional or malicious infliction of injury to the animal, not alleged here. *Hendrickson v. Tender Care Animal Hosp. Corp.*, 176 Wn. App. 757, 768, 312 P.3d 52, (2013).

she made no allegation that the injury was because of the negligent misrepresentation claim. [CP847-848]

Finally, Meeker contends that the Court of Appeals' decision on "loss of use" conflicts with this Court's decision in Seattle Tunnel Partners v. Great Lakes Reinsurance (UK) PLC, Co., 200 Wn.2d 316, 516 P.3d 796 (2022). However, Seattle Tunnel has no bearing here. Seattle Tunnel was a first party property case. At issue, was weather the term "direct physical loss [or] ... damage" includes deprivation or dispossession of property. There, it was undisputed that the insured had suffered loss of use. Id. at 322. The only issue was whether loss of use fell within the insuring agreement's coverage for direct physical loss or damage.

In this case, in contrast, the liability policy in question already defines "property damage" to include "loss of use." Thus, the question here is not whether "property damage" includes "loss of use" but whether Meeker alleged she had lost the use of Sticks.

The Court of Appeals' decision analyzed the phrase "loss of use" consistently with longstanding rules of contract interpretation and concluded that Meeker had not alleged "loss of use." Thus, there is no conflict with existing Washington cases that would merit review of this Court.

C. There is No Substantial Public Interest at Play

This case involves a discrete third party liability insurance coverage claim between two parties, involving insurance terms and concepts with long- and well-established interpretations in Washington. The Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with that jurisprudence.

Meeker's concerns that the Court of Appeals did not appropriately address notice pleading and allegations of emotional distress are again a function of asking the wrong question. The issue is whether the policy conceivably covers the facts alleged. The question is not, as Meeker poses it, whether the policy coverage facts that conceivably could have been alleged, but were not.

Furthermore, as the Court of Appeals properly observed, Meeker did not plead tort claims that imply recovery for "bodily injury." Instead, they "sound in equity, loss of possession and contract." Opinion at 14. Thus, the defect in Meeker's pleading is not only that she specifically pled mental and emotional, rather than bodily, injury. It also did not allege tort claims amenable to recovery for bodily injury. As a result, there is no public interest issue to be resolved.

IV. CONCLUSION

There are no grounds under RAP 13.4(b) which support the Court accepting Meeker's petition for review. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with prior Washington cases interpreting the terms "bodily injury" and "property damage."

Nor is the Court of Appeals opinion inconsistent with Washington's handling of the preclusive effect of reasonableness determinations. Meeker simply provided no evidence to the trial court that addressed the issues presented here.

Finally, the Court of Appeals decision was consistent with prior case law regarding the duty to defend and notice pleading. The law requires only that an insurer examine whether what is actually pled could conceivably be covered. It does not require an insurer to guess what could have been conceivably pled but was not.

I certify that *Respondent Trumbull's Answer to*Appellant's Petition for Review to The Washington Supreme

Court contains 2,248 words (excluding words contained in appendices, title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of compliance, certificate of service, signature blocks, and pictorial images) in compliance with RAP 18.17.